
 

 
 

December 15, 2025 
 
U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
Office of the General Counsel 
245 Murray Lane, SW, Mailstop 0485 
Washington, DC 20528-0485 
ogc@hq.dhs.gov   
 
Charles Wall, Principal Legal Advisor 
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement  
Office of the Principal Legal Advisor 
District Court Litigation Division 
500 12th Street, SW, Mailstop 5900 
Washington, DC 20536 
OPLA-DCLD-TortClaims@ice.dhs.gov  
 

 
Re:   Complaint and Claims for Damages under the Federal Tort Claims Act for  

Hilda Ramirez Sanan and her children, J.R.S. and A.R.S.   
 
Dear Counsel: 
 

Lawyers for Civil Rights (³LCR´) submits this complaint under the Federal Tort Claims 
$FW� �³)7&$´��� ��� 8�6�&�� ��� ������ ����-2680, on behalf of Hilda Ramirez Sanan (D.O.B 
3/20/1975), and her children, J.R.S (D.O.B ) and A.R.S. (D.O.B )1, 
(collectively, ³Claimants´), seeking damages arising from the actions of the U.S. Government and 
8�6��,PPLJUDWLRQ�DQG�&XVWRPV�(QIRUFHPHQW��³,&(´��RIILFHUV�GXULQJ�DQ�LQFLGHQW�WKDW�RFFXUUHG�RQ 
September 26, 2025, in Chelsea, Massachusetts. Ms. Ramirez is a lawful permanent resident who 
has lived in the United States for over 20 years, and her two children are U.S. citizens.  

 
The traumatic incident described herein resulted in physical, emotional, and psychological 

harm to each Claimant, stemming directly from the unlawful and excessive actions of federal 
officers acting within the scope of their official duties.2  
 

 
1 The children hereby proceed by pseudonym due to reasonable fear that, should their identities be revealed, they 
will face stigma as well as threats of violence and retaliation. See Haitian-Americans United et al. v. Trump et al., 
25-CV-10498 (D. Mass. 2025) (Order Granting Motion to Proceed Pseudonymously, ECF No. 7, holding that 
³3ODLQWLIIV�FRQYLQFLQJO\�DUJXH�WKDW�FRPLQJ�RXW�RI�WKH�VKDGRZV�ZLOO�FDXVH�>WKHP@�XQXVXDOO\�VHYHUH�KDUP��DQG�JLYHQ�
that threat of harm, anonymity is necessary to forestall a chilling effect on future litigants who may be similarly 
VLWXDWHG´���LQWHUQDO�TXRWDWLRQ�PDUNV�DQG�FLWDWLRQ�RPLWWHG���Alianza Americas et al. v. DeSantis et al., 22-CV-11550 
(D. Mass. 2022) (ECF No. 7) (same); Doe et al v. Trump et al., 25-CV-10135 (D. Mass. 2025) (ECF No. 9) (same); 
Doe v. Austin, No. 22-CV-368, 2023 WL 3568188, at *1 (D. Me. May 19, 2023) (granting leave to proceed under 
SVHXGRQ\PV�GXH�WR�³IHDU�RI�KDUDVVPHQW�DQG�YLROHQFH´���Doe v. Lyons, No. 23-CV-10894, 2023 WL 3936740, at *1 
(D. Mass. May 9, 2023) (same); K.O. by & through E.O. v. United States, 651 F.Supp.3d 331, 343 (D. Mass. 2023) 
�QRWLQJ�WKDW�(&)�1R�����³DOORZHG�WKH�SODLQWLIIV�WR�SURFHHG�SVHXGRQ\PRXVO\´�GXH�WR�³IHDUV�RI�UHWDOLDWLRQ´�� 
2 The Claimants are submitting these claims without the benefit of formal discovery. They hereby reserve the right to 
amend or supplement the factual recitation and their legal claims. 

mailto:ogc@hq.dhs.gov
mailto:OPLA-DCLD-TortClaims@ice.dhs.gov
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

Claimant Hilda Ramirez Sanan is 50 years old and a legal permanent resident. Her son, 
Claimant J.R.S., is a 13-year-old U.S. citizen with Autism Spectrum Disorder and limited verbal 
communication. Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V daughter, Claimant A.R.S., was 17 years old at the time of 
the incident and is a U.S. citizen. 

 
On the morning of September 26, 2025, Ms. Ramirez Sanan was in her car, which had a 

clearly visible disability placard hanging from the rearview mirror, with her son J.R.S., and her 
two brothers-in-law, F.R.P. and J.R.P. At the time of the incident, F.R.P. was driving, and Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan sat behind him in the rear driver-side seat. J.R.S. was in the front passenger seat 
and J.R.P. was in the rear of the car, behind J.R.S. The family was accompanying J.R.P. to a 9 AM 
hearing at Chelsea District Court.  

 
At around 8:30 AM, and mere feet away from the courthouse, four unmarked vehicles 

surrounded and blocked Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�car. As F.R.P. stopped the car and kept his hands 
visible and on the steering wheel, at least eight visibly armed officers swarmed the car. Many of 
the officers concealed their identity wearing hats, masks, and sunglasses. They also wore vests²
VRPH�XQPDUNHG�DQG�RWKHUV�PDUNHG�DV�³3ROLFH�´ Within seconds, and without stopping to identify 
themselves, ask any questions, or give any warnings or orders for the passengers to follow, the 
officers surrounded the car and used a sharp tool to shatter both the front and back windows on the 
driver-side, hitting Ms. Ramirez Sanan and F.R.P. with shards of glass.  

 
They then reached into the car through the shattered front window to unlock the car doors 

and opened the front driver-side door. $OWKRXJK�QRQH�RI�WKH�SDVVHQJHUV�ZHUH�DUPHG�DQG�)�5�3�¶V�
hands were visible on the steering wheel, one of the officers pointed a gun at F.R.P. while other 
officers reached into the car to unbuckle his seatbelt and grab his arms to pull him out of the car. 
The officers then dragged F.R.P., who has epilepsy, to one of their vehicles, pushed him over the 
hood, and twisted his arms behind his back to forcefully handcuff him against the hood. Although 
he was not resisting, another officer, while standing GLUHFWO\� LQ� IURQW� RI�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ¶V�
shattered window, continued to point a gun at him. The remaining officers opened the passenger-
side doors they had unlocked and continued to surround the car, armed and threateningly, such 
that neither Ms. Ramirez Sanan nor J.R. could leave. 

 
Ms. Ramirez Sanan, who speaks limited English, was crying out to the officers through the 

shattered car windows²covered in shards of glass, scared and confused at the officeUV¶�YLROHQFH. 
She tried to document the officers¶�EHKDYLRU�E\� UHFRUGLQJ�RQ�KHU�SKRQH��ZKLOH� she desperately 
asked them why they were hiding their faces and why they broke her car windows. Ms. Ramirez 
Sanan pled with the officers to be careful with F.R.P. because of his epilepsy²UHSHDWLQJ��³KH�LV�
VLFN�´²and begged the officers: ³OLVWHQ�«�WKLV�LV�P\�VRQ��WKHVH�DUH�P\�EURWKHUV�«�ZK\��«�ZKDW�
happened «�\RX�EURNH�P\�FDU�´�As she was pleading, an officer was reaching into the car to 
handcuff one of J.R.P.¶V�DUPV while he was in the backseat. The officer then started grabbing and 
pulling at J.R.P. while yelling at him to get out of the car. J.R.P. FDOPO\�DVNHG�IRU�³RQH�VHFRQG´�WR�
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make sure his nephew was okay before exiting, but the officers continued to yell and dragged him 
out of the car. 

 
Thirteen-year-old J.R.S., who has limited verbal communication because of his Autism 

disability, was terrified²crying and shaking in the front seat while an armed and masked ICE 
officer stood threateningly in front of his open door. Although J.R.S.¶V� GLVDELOLW\� SODFDUG�was 
hanging IURP� WKH� FDU¶V� UHDUYLHZ� PLUURU� ULJKW� QH[W� WR� KLP, the officers made no attempt to 
understand or accommodate his disability. They also failed to de-escalate.  

 
After arresting F.R.P. and J.R.P., the officers reached in the car to unbuckle 13-year-old 

-�5�6�¶V�VHDWEHOW�DQG�JUDEEHG�KLV�DUPV�WR�forcibly pull the disabled minor out of the car. An officer 
reached in the car and confiscated Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�phone and then pulled her out of the 
passenger-side back door by reaching into the car, grabbing her by the right arm, and dragging her 
across the backseat. As the officers forced Ms. Ramirez Sanan to a nearby fence, she was pleading 
with them, telling them that she has chronic back pain and that they were hurting her, and 
explaining that she has legal status. The officers, ignoring her pain and pleas, pushed her face-first 
against the fence and began forcibly twisting her arms behind her back to handcuff her. Scared and 
writhing in pain, Ms. Ramirez Sanan was crying and screaming, repeating that she has back 
problems, that she is a legal resident, and that her son has Autism. Another officer brought J.R.S., 
who was still crying and shaking in fear, up against the fence²right next to where his mother was 
being violently restrained. The officer stood directly in front of J.R.S., at times grabbing his 
shoulder, to prevent him from leaving.  

 
A.R.S., who had been waiting for her family at the courthouse before learning that they 

had been stopped, arrived at the scene to find her mother being violently restrained and handcuffed 
by the officers, and her younger brother detained and sobbing against the fence. A masked and 
armed officer blocked and pushed her back while holding her wrists to restrain her. As A.R.S. was 
crying out for her family, UHSHDWHGO\�\HOOLQJ�³P\�EURWKHU�KDV�AXWLVP�´�the officer told KHU�WR�³VKXW�
XS�´�A community member was filming on his phone and tried to explain that A.R.S. is Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan¶V�GDXJKWHU�DQG�begged repeatedly for the officers to let the 13-year-old child go, 
repeating WKDW�KH�LV�³VLFN�´ While A.R.S. was being restrained and crying for her family, and J.R.S. 
was sobbing next to his mom, one of the officers kicked Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�OHJ�DQG��ZLWK�WKH�
help of two other officers, aggressively slammed her face-down against the ground and sharply 
twisted her arms back to handcuff her. The officer blocking J.R.S. was asking the 13-year-old child 
if he had legal status, how old he was, and who he lived with as he was shaking and crying in fear 
and confusion. At one point, an officer threatened to arrest the 13-year-old child LI�KH�GLGQ¶W�DQVZHU 
or provide proof of legal status²without regard to his age, obvious emotional distress, and 
disability. 
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Officers continued to exercise control over 0V�� 5DPLUH]� 6DQDQ¶V� children: an officer 

physically moved J.R.S. and brought him closer to A.R.S. Officers continued to detain and control 
both children by surrounding them and physically blocking them from their mother, who remained 
forcibly restrained.  

 

 
 
The officers inflicted so much pain on Ms. Ramirez Sanan that her legs gave out and she 

FRXOGQ¶W� ZDON�� $V� ,&(� RIILFHUV� EHJDQ� WR� drag Ms. Ramirez Sanan²battered, bruised, and 
handcuffed²to one of their unmarked cars in front of her crying and terrified children, a 
FRPPXQLW\�PHPEHU�\HOOHG�UHSHDWHGO\�³VKH�LV�D�8�6��FLWL]HQ�«�VKH�KDV�,'�«�FKHFN�KHU�,'�´�7KH�
officers only response to this information about her lawful status was to tell the community 
member to stay back. Undeterred, the officers continued the unlawful arrest.   
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Just as the officers were about to force Ms. Ramirez Sanan into one of their unmarked 
vehicles despite her lawful immigration status, local authorities arrived. The local police 
requested that the officers check Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�LGHQWLILFDWLRQ��$IWHU�FRQILUPLQJ�her status, 



 

 7 

the officers let Ms. Ramirez Sanan go and left with F.R.P. and J.R.P. Due to the violence 
inflicted by the ICE officers, Ms. Ramirez Sanan could not walk, and local firefighters had to 
carry her to a chair for an evaluation and emergency assistance.  
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Local police tried to stabilize the children after the ICE officers left. 

 

 
 
 
An ambulance then took Ms. Ramirez Sanan and her two children to a hospital emergency 

room for further medical evaluation.  After the family received medical assistance, they left the 
hospital, and went to the police station to file a report against ICE for their violent and unlawful 
actions.   

 
This shocking chain of events unfolded publicly in under a half hour: unidentified armed 

officers pulled over the family while on their way to court, surrounded their vehicle, destroyed 
private property, forcibly removed and detained a lawful permanent resident 50-year-old mother 
and her 13-year-old disabled son, violently restrained, handcuffed, and tried to abduct Ms. Ramirez 
Sanan despite her lawful status in front of her crying children²all while recklessly failing to 
FKHFN�� DQG� HYHQ� DFWLYHO\� LJQRULQJ�� WKH� IDPLO\¶V� immigration status. The officers acted with 
complete disregard for the rights of all the individuals in the car. The officers never identified 
themselves or explained where they were from. They never produced a warrant. Although Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan, a lawful permanent resident, could not have been their target for federal 
immigration enforcement efforts, they never gave her a chance to explain or provide identification. 
They actively ignored highly relevant information about Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�VWDWXV�DV�D�lawful 
resident. The entire operation was executed with alarming speed, violence, and devoid of process 
or justification. The officers acted unreasonably, unlawfully, and deeply traumatized an innocent 
family²just trying to accompany a loved one to a court hearing. 
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$ODUPLQJO\��WKLV�SUDFWLFH²ZKHUH�PDVNHG�RIILFHUV�SK\VLFDOO\�EORFN�D�FDU�ZLWK�XQPDUNHG�

YHKLFOHV��GR�QRW�LGHQWLI\�WKHPVHOYHV��DQG�WKHQ�TXLFNO\�XVH�IRUFH�WR�VPDVK�FDU�ZLQGRZV��JDLQ�HQWU\��
DQG�DSSUHKHQG�LQGLYLGXDOV²ZLWKRXW�DQ\�UHJDUG�IRU�WKH�ULJKWV�RU�KXPDQLW\�RI�WKRVH�WKH\�HQFRXQWHU��
DSSHDUV�LQFUHDVLQJO\�FRPPRQ�DPRQJ�,&(�RIILFHUV�3� 

 
7KH�IDFW� WKDW�VLPLODU� LQFLGHQWV�KDYH�RFFXUUHG� LQ� WKH�PRQWKV�EHIRUH�DQG� LQ� WKH�VDPH�FLW\�

GHPRQVWUDWHV�WKDW�WKHVH�DUH�QRW�LVRODWHG�LQFLGHQWV�SHUSHWUDWHG�E\�URJXH�RIILFHUV��EXW�UDWKHU�DUH�SDUW�
RI�D�SDWWHUQ�DQG�SUDFWLFH�RI�FRQGXFW�VDQFWLRQHG�DQG�UDWLILHG�E\�,&(� 

 
HARMS  

 
Claimants have suffered severe physical, psychological, emotional, and financial distress 

EHFDXVH�RI�WKH�,&(�RIILFHUV¶�violent and reckless behavior.  
 
Thirteen-year-old J.R.S. has been crying inconsolably, refusing to be separated from his 

mom, and unable to sleep due to recurring nightmares about the incident ZKHUH�KH�FULHV�RXW�³GRQ¶W�
kill my mom.´ Every time the family passes by the scene, which is frequently because they live 
nearby, he repeats: ³WKDW¶V�ZKHUH�WKH\�KXUW�P\�PRP�´ J.R.S. recently went in his PRWKHU¶V�car for 
the first time after the incident and had to get out because he was so traumatized being back in the 

 
3 See, e.g., Ally Jarmanning, Chelsea family seeking to sue ICE after father is pulled from car on the way to church, 
WBUR (June 5, 2025), available at https://www.wbur.org/news/2025/06/05/chelsea-ice-arrest-complaint; Michael 
Casey & Rodrique Ngowi, )DPLO\�6D\V�,&(�$JHQWV�6PDVKHG�&DU�:LQGRZ�LQ�6HL]LQJ�*XDWHPDODQ�0DQ�:KR¶V�
Seeking Asylum, Associated Press (April 17, 2025), available at https://apnews.com/article/ice-detention-francisco-
mendez-new-bedford-5c5eb62788e58159f3a27915b4416062; Raven Payne, ,&(�%UHDN�:RPDQ¶V�&DU�:LQGRZ�WR�
Arrest Her While Daughter Records, ABC Baltimore (April 9, 2025), available at 
https://www.wmar2news.com/local/ice-break-womans-car-window-to-arrest-her-while-daughter-records; Demetra 
Maragos, Viral video of ICE officers breaking car windows during arrest in Spokane Valley, KHQ Local (March 13, 
2025), available at https://www.khq.com/community/instagram/viral-video-of-ice-officers-breaking-car-windows-
during-arrest-in-spokane-valley/article_91ec027a-007c-11f0-a0ac-e718984bbef3.html.  

https://www.wbur.org/news/2025/06/05/chelsea-ice-arrest-complaint
https://apnews.com/article/ice-detention-francisco-mendez-new-bedford-5c5eb62788e58159f3a27915b4416062
https://apnews.com/article/ice-detention-francisco-mendez-new-bedford-5c5eb62788e58159f3a27915b4416062
https://www.wmar2news.com/local/ice-break-womans-car-window-to-arrest-her-while-daughter-records
https://www.khq.com/community/instagram/viral-video-of-ice-officers-breaking-car-windows-during-arrest-in-spokane-valley/article_91ec027a-007c-11f0-a0ac-e718984bbef3.html
https://www.khq.com/community/instagram/viral-video-of-ice-officers-breaking-car-windows-during-arrest-in-spokane-valley/article_91ec027a-007c-11f0-a0ac-e718984bbef3.html
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place where ICE officers perpetrated the violence. Ms. Ramirez Sanan is trying to get J.R.S. a 
social worker and a psychiatrist to help him process his trauma from the event so that he can begin 
to heal and sleep. 

  
A.R.S., who has chronic asthma and anxiety, has been in shock since the incident. She has 

had trouble sleeping and frequent headaches from the stress of the way the officers restrained her 
and attacked her family. She has tried to be a support for both her younger brother and her mother, 
who has been crying daily, but has not been able to process her own trauma. She has been following 
up with several doctors, including a neurologist, to help her recover physically and emotionally.   
 

Physically, Ms. Ramirez Sanan suffered a concussion, bruising on her shoulder and arm, 
and a painful radial nerve palsy from the force with which her arm was twisted while ICE officers 
violently handcuffed her. She continues to have pain and numbness in her wrist and face, limited 
mobility in her wrist, stiffness in her legs, and pain in her pelvis from when the officers handcuffed 
and pushed her against the sidewalk. Ms. Ramirez Sanan is seeing an occupational therapist for 
her hand, a neurologist for the pain in her face and hand, and a physical therapist for her legs and 
pelvis. Emotionally, she is devasted WKDW�KHU�FKLOGUHQ�ZHUH�YLFWLPV�RI�,&(¶V�violence. She cries 
daily. She is extremely distressed by seeing her children so upset and having nightmares. She sees 
a psychiatrist and social worker to help process her trauma. Financially, Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�FDU�
sat in the driveway with windows shattered by ICE²and unusable²for nearly a month, while she 
bore the costs of taxis for her and her children to get around, including to their many follow-up 
medical appointments triggered by the violent encounter with ICE. Ms. Ramirez Sanan had to pay 
over $500 to get her car fixed. She is also responsible for the ongoing costs of the medical 
evaluation and treatment for her family resulting from the officers¶�EUXWDOLW\�� 

 
The Claimants as a family are traumatized and still reeling. Their physical and emotional 

scars are daily reminders of the reckless violence they endured at the hands of ICE. Since ICE 
ignored their lawful status, they live in constant fear that they will be targeted again, making it 
nearly impossible to begin to heal. They have had to spend money they do not have to spare on 
transportation, car repairs, medical costs, and therapy appointments. They are doing all they can 
to cope and support each other, but they will carry the weight of this profound, needless trauma 
for the rest of their lives. 

 
ARGUMENTS  

 
I. FTCA Jurisdiction 

 
The FTCA permits individuals to bring claims against the United States for negligent or 

wrongful acts committed by federal employees acting within the scope of their official duties. 28 
U.S.C.§ 2674, et seq��6SHFLILFDOO\��WKH�)7&$�ZDLYHV�WKH�IHGHUDO�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�VRYHUHLJQ�LPPXQLW\�
³XQGHU�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�ZKHUH�ORFDO�ODZ�ZRXOG�PDNH�D�private SHUVRQ�OLDEOH�LQ�WRUW�´ United States 
v. Olson, 546 U.S. 43, 44 (2005) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1)) (internal citations omitted) 
(emphasis added in original). While claims asserting some intentional torts, including assault, 
battery, false imprisonment, and false arrest, are typically not subject to the waiver, these claims 
are permitted when brought against federal investigative or law enforcement officers. 28 U.S.C.A. 
§ 2680(h). Similarly, although claims involving the ³GLVFUHWLRQDU\�IXQFWLRQV´�RI�IHGHUDO�HPSOR\HHV 
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are typically excepted, this exception does not apply when federal employees acted in violation of 
constitutional or other legal rights. See Limone v. United States, 579 F.3d 79, 101-102 (1st Cir. 
2009); Hornof v. United States, 107 F.4th 46, 57 N. 10 (1st Cir. 2024).  

 
+HUH�� &ODLPDQWV¶� FODLPV� DUH� DJDLQVW� IHGHUDO� ODZ� HQIRUFHPHQW� RIILFHUV� ZKRVH� FRQGXFW�

violated multiple legal authorities, including the Fourth and Fifth Amendments, the Immigration 
DQG�1DWLRQDOLW\�$FW��DQG�,&(¶V�RZQ�6WDQGDUGV�IRU�(QIRUFHPHQW�$FWLYLWLHV 
 

II. ICE Officer Illegal Conduct  
 

A. Violation of the Fourth Amendment  
 

Longstanding Supreme Court precedent establishes that ³>W@KH Fourth Amendment applies 
to all seizures of the person, including seizures that involve only a brief detention short of 
traditional DUUHVW�´ and those performed by immigration officials. United States v. Brignoni±
Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 878 (1975) (citation omitted). ³>:@KHQHYHU a police officer accosts an 
individual and restrains his freedom to walk away, he has µVHL]HG¶ that SHUVRQ�´ Terry v. Ohio, 392 
U.S. 1, 16 (1968)��³>T]he Fourth Amendment requires that the seizure be µUHDVRQDEOH�¶´ Brignoni±
Ponce, 422 U.S. at 878. ³>7@KH reasonableness of such seizures depends on a balance between the 
public interest and the LQGLYLGXDO¶V right to personal security free from arbitrary interference by 
law officers�´�Id. 
 

Here, immigration officers seized Ms. Ramirez Sanan and J.R.S. in multiple ways 
throughout their interaction. First, they blocked Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�FDU�ZLWK�several unmarked 
vehicles; at least eight armed officers, including at least one holding his gun, subsequently 
prevented Ms. Ramirez Sanan and J.R.S. from leaving the car. See, e.g., Commonwealth v. Helme, 
����0DVV������������0DVV���������DIILUPLQJ�)RXUWK�$PHQGPHQW�YLRODWLRQ�ZKHQ�RIILFHUV�³SDUNHG�
WKH�SROLFH�FUXLVHU�VR�DV�WR�EORFN�WKH�>YLFWLP¶V@�DXWRPRELOH�DQG�SUHYHQW�LW�IURP�OHDYLQJ«´���see also 
Commonwealth v. Lyles, 453 Mass. 811, 817 (Mass. 2009) (affirming Fourth Amendment 
violation). Then, after the officers pulled Ms. Ramirez Sanan and 13-year-old J.R.S. out of the car, 
the officers forced them up against a fence. J.R.S. was physically blocked by an officer from 
leaving the fence and Ms. Ramirez Sanan was aggressively restrained and then handcuffed by 
multiple officers. The officers would have abducted her in their unmarked vehicle²taking her 
away from her terrified family for an unknown amount of time and to an unknown location²had 
local authorities not intervened.  

 
The officers also seized A.R.S. when they blocked and physically restrained her by 

grabbing her arms when she arrived at the scene, and then physically blocking her and J.R.S. 
against the fence as they were dragging Ms. Ramirez Sanan to their unmarked vehicle.  

 
Each of the seizures was unreasonable because Ms. Ramirez Sanan, a lawful permanent 

resident, and her children, U.S. citizens, could not have been legitimate ICE targets. Despite being 
unlawfully targeted, Ms. Ramirez Sanan and her children did not interfere with the officers. The 
officers violated the Claimants¶ Fourth Amendment rights.   
 

B. Violation of the Fifth Amendment (Substantive Due Process) 
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8QGHU�WKH�'XH�3URFHVV�&ODXVH�RI�WKH�&RQVWLWXWLRQ��JRYHUQPHQW�DFWRUV�PD\�QRW�³GHSULYH�

DQ\�SHUVRQ�RI�OLIH��OLEHUW\��RU�SURSHUW\��ZLWKRXW�GXH�SURFHVV�RI�ODZ�´�8�6��&RQVW���DPHQG�;,9��7KH�
clause contains a substantive component that prohibits certain arbitrary, wrongful government 
actions, regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them. Zinermon v. Burch, 
494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990); Cnty. of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 845±46 (1998); see Cook 
v. Gates, 528 F.3d 42, 49 (1st Cir. 2008) (discussing substantive due process under Fourteenth and 
Fifth Amendments as one in the same); McIntyre v. United States, 336 F.Supp.2d 87, 108 (D. 
Mass. 2004) (applying same legal test for substantive due process under Fourteenth and Fifth 
Amendments). 

 
Government actions that are legislative in nature²e.g., statutes, governmental policies, 

broadly applicable administrative regulations and executive orders, and, in some circumstances, 
³FRQFHUWHG�DFWLRQV�E\�PXOWLSOH�JRYHUQPHQW�HPSOR\HHV�LI�WDNHQ�SXUVXDQW�WR�EURDG�JRYHUQPHQWDO�
SROLFLHV´²violate substantive due process if they restrict a fundamental right. Foote v. Ludlow 
School Comm., 128 F.4th 336, 345 (1st Cir. 2025); Clark v. Boscher, 514 F.3d 107, 112 (1st Cir. 
2008). Actions that are executive in nature²e.g., individual acts of government officials²are 
unconstitutional if they both shock the conscience and restrict a fundamental right. Clark, 514 F.3d 
at 112; Foote, 128 F.4th at 346. Here, the ICE RIILFHUV¶�FRQGXFW�LV�OHJLVODWLYH�LQ�QDWXUH�EHFDXVH�LW�
involved multiple officers acting under cover of broader governmental immigration enforcement 
priorities, and therefore it need only have restricted a fundamental right to be unconstitutional.  
 

7KH Due Process Clause safeguards liberty as a fundamental right in its most literal sense²
shielding individuals from unjustified government intrusions on their freedom of movement. 
Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992). It protects freedom from unjustified bodily restraint. 
Id.; Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 316 (1982). The Supreme Court has taken care not to 
³PLQLPL]H�WKH�LPSRUWDQFH�DQG�IXQGDPHQWDO�QDWXUH´�RI�DQ�LQGLYLGXDO¶V�ULJKW�WR�OLEHUW\��United States 
v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 750 (1987). As described above, the RIILFHUV¶�brutality intruded on Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan and KHU�FKLOGUHQ¶V freedom of movement, including by physically restraining or 
detaining them, during the ICE interaction. This conduct violated their fundamental right to liberty 
with no possible legitimate²let alone compelling²government purpose: Claimants are lawful 
residents and FRXOG�QRW�KDYH�EHHQ��QRU�FRXOG�WKH\�KDYH�EHHQ�UHDVRQDEO\�PLVWDNHQ�IRU��,&(¶V targets. 

 
AOWKRXJK� QRW� UHTXLUHG� WR� HVWDEOLVK� D� GXH� SURFHVV� YLRODWLRQ� KHUH�� WKH� RIILFHUV¶� EHKDYLRU�

shocks the conscience. 7KH�6XSUHPH�&RXUW�KDV�H[SODLQHG�WKDW�³FRQGXFW�GHOLEHUDWHO\�LQWHQGHG�WR�
injure in some way unjustifiable by any government interest is the sort of official action most likely 
to rise to the conscience-VKRFNLQJ�OHYHO�´�Cty. of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 834 (1998). 
In some circumstances, deliberate indifference can constitute conscience-shocking behavior. 
Maldonado-*RQ]iOH]�Y��3XHUWR�5LFR�$TXHGXFW�	�6HZHU�$XWK¶\, --- F.4th ---, 2025 WL 2992255, 
at *5±6 (1st Cir. Oct. 24, 2025). The ICE officers made a series of deliberate, conscious-shocking 
choices in their interactions with Claimants. First, they recklessly shattered Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�
car windows, including the window right next to Ms. Ramirez Sanan, before giving anyone a 
chance to comply with ICE orders. Then, they brought J.R.S., scared and crying, directly next to 
his mother on the fence while they violently handcuffed and arrested her. Finally, the officers 
intended to and did injure the 50-year-old mother right in front of her children by pushing, kicking, 
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pulling, twisting, and slamming KHU�DV�VKH�FULHG�RXW�LQ�SDLQ��7KH�RIILFHUV¶�EHKDYLRU�LV an undeniably 
conscience-shocking display of lawless, unchecked authority.  
  

7KH�,&(�RIILFHUV¶�violent and needless violation of Claimant¶s liberty is precisely the type 
of governmental conduct the Supreme Court has condemned as unconstitutional under the Fifth 
Amendment.  

 
C. Violation of Immigration and Nationality Act   

 
The authority of federal immigration officers to make certain seizures and arrests is set 

forth in the Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. §1357. Under this statutory authority, 
immigration officers may only make a warrantless arrest LI�WKH\�KDYH�³reason to believe that the 
alien so arrested is in the United States in violation of any [immigration] law or regulation and is 
OLNHO\�WR�HVFDSH�EHIRUH�D�ZDUUDQW�FDQ�EH�REWDLQHG�IRU�KLV�DUUHVW�´ 8 U.S.C. §1357(a)(2) (emphasis 
added). ³5HDVRQ�WR�EHOLHYH´�LV�FRQVLGHUHG�WKH�HTXLYDOHQW�RI�SUREDEOH�FDXVH��Morales, 793 F.3d at 
216. 

 Here, ICE officers seized and arrested Ms. Ramirez Sanan by aggressively detaining, 
forcibly handcuffing, slamming, and attempting to abduct Ms. Ramirez Sanan in their unmarked 
vehicle²all without explanation. See Morelli v. Webster, 552 F.3d 12, 20 (1st Cir. 2009) �³The 
ultimate inquiry´ for a de facto arrest is ³whether there was a restraint on freedom of movement 
RI�WKH�GHJUHH�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�D�IRUPDO�DUUHVW�´) (citation modified); Silva v. Faria, No. CV 22-
10172, 2025 WL 445181, at *6 (D. Mass. Jan. 8, 2025), appeal filed, No. 25-1129 (1st Cir. 2025) 
�³Physical restraint and shows of force are hallmark factors that may be suggestive of a de facto 
arrest.´� (citation modified).  

 The officers here could not have had any reason to believe that Ms. Ramirez Sanan²a 50-
year-old woman and lawful permanent resident of 20 years²should have been arrested. Instead, 
they acted with blatant disregard to her rights: ignoring information about her legal status and 
failing to even check her identification before violently detaining her, handcuffing her, and trying 
to force her in their car to keep her custody for an unknown amount of time. The ICE officers 
violated their obligations under 8 U.S.C. §1357 when they arrested Ms. Ramirez Sanan. 

 
D. Violation of the Standards for Enforcement Activities  

 
The standards for immigration officer enforcement activities are codified, in relevant part, 

in 8 C.F.R. § 287.8 (Standards for Enforcement Activities). During the ICE RIILFHUV¶�LQWHUDFWLRQV�
with the Ms. Ramirez Sanan and her children, the officers violated their enforcement standards in 
multiple ways.    
 

1) Failure to Identify  
 

)LUVW��WKH�RIILFHUV�GLG�QRW�LGHQWLI\�WKHPVHOYHV�RU�VWDWH�DQ\�UHDVRQ�IRU�DQ�DUUHVW��LQ�YLRODWLRQ�
RI���&�)�5����������F�����LLL���ZKLFK�VWDWHV� 
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�LLL��$W� WKH� WLPH�RI� WKH� DUUHVW�� WKH�GHVLJQDWHG� LPPLJUDWLRQ�RIILFHU� VKDOO�� DV� VRRQ� DV� LW� LV�
SUDFWLFDO�DQG�VDIH�WR�GR�VR� 
�$��,GHQWLI\�KLPVHOI�RU�KHUVHOI�DV�DQ�LPPLJUDWLRQ�RIILFHU�ZKR�LV�DXWKRUL]HG�WR�H[HFXWH�DQ�
DUUHVW��DQG 
�%��6WDWH�WKDW�WKH�SHUVRQ�LV�XQGHU�DUUHVW�DQG�WKH�UHDVRQ�IRU�WKH�DUUHVW� 
 
At no point during the interaction did the ICE officers²who drove unmarked cars and 

wore hats, masks, and sunglasses to deliberately conceal their identity²stop their violent behavior 
towards Ms. Ramirez Sanan to identify themselves, let alone explain the reason for their attack of 
a lawful resident in front of her U.S. citizen children. In intentionally hiding their identity and 
affiliation, Ms. Ramirez Sanan and her children had no way of knowing who was targeting their 
family or why, which violates the standards described in 8 C.F.R. § 287.8(c)(2)(iii). 
 

2) Illegal Use of Force 
 

6HFRQG�� WKH�RIILFHUV�XVHG� LOOHJDOO\�H[FHVVLYH�DQG�XQQHFHVVDU\� IRUFH� LQ� WKHLU� LQWHUDFWLRQV�
ZLWK�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ�DQG�-�5�6���LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI�8 C.F.R. § 287.8(a)(iii), which states:  
 

A designated immigration officer shall always use the minimum 
non-GHDGO\�IRUFH�QHFHVVDU\�WR�DFFRPSOLVK�WKH�RIILFHU¶V�PLVVLRQ�DQG�
shall escalate to a higher level of non-deadly force only when such 
higher level of force is warranted by the actions, apparent intentions, 
and apparent capabilities of the suspect, prisoner, or assailant.  

 
 $V�,&(¶V�RZQ�UHJXODWLRQV�VHW�IRUWK��WKH�use of force is a grave measure that must be reserved 
exclusively for the most exigent and exceptional circumstances, where it is necessary, 
proportionate, and clearly justified under the law. Anything less undermines public trust, 
endangers lives, and violates the fundamental constitutional protections that shield individuals 
from state-sanctioned violence.  
 

Here, the officers abused their power by unjustifiably using force and violence. The officers 
never gave anyone in the car a chance to cooperate or provide identification before brazenly 
shattering Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V�FDU�ZLQGRZV on top of her and J.R.P. and brandishing a gun.  The 
officers dragged Ms. Ramirez Sanan and J.R.S. from the car, shoved Ms. Ramirez Sanan into a 
fence, and began violently restraining her as she writhed in pain. An officer kicked Ms. Ramirez 
Sanan¶V� OHJ� RXW� IURP� XQGHU� KHU� ZKLOH� D� JURXS� RI� RIILFHUV� VODPPHG� KHU� face-first against the 
ground²all in front of her crying children. The officers¶ use of force was unnecessary and 
unwarranted in violation of 8 C.F.R. § 287.8(a)(iii). 
 

3) Unlawful Detention 
 

Third, the immigration officers violated their standards for detaining Claimants under 8 
C.F.R. § 287.8(b), which states, in relevant part, that an immigration officer may not ³restrain the 
freedom of an individual, not under arrest, to walk away´ while questioning them, unless they have 
³reasonable suspicion, based on specific articulable facts, that the person being questioned is, or 
is attempting to be, engaged in an offense against the United States or is an alien illegally in 
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the United States.´ Even then, the immigration officer may only ³briefly detain the person for 
questioning.´ Id. (emphasis added). 

 
The officers limited Claimant¶V freedom to walk away throughout their interaction. The 

officers restrained Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V freedom, first by preventing her from leaving her car, then 
by forcibly restraining her and attempting to arrest her. The officers restrained J.R.S. by preventing 
him from leaving the car and then keeping him up against the fence to question him while 
physically blocking his ability to leave. The officers restrained A.R.S. when they blocked and 
physically restrained her by grabbing her arms when she arrived at the scene. The officers 
restrained J.R.S. and A.R.S. by physically blocking them against the fence while officers tried to 
force their mother into one of their vehicles.  

 
None of these detentions were justified by ³VSHFLILF articulable IDFWV´ that Claimants were 

engaged in offenses against or were illegally present in the United States. Nor could they be. Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan is a lawful permanent resident and her children are U.S. citizens. They were 
innocent victims²not perpetrators²of illegal offenses.  

 
4) Unlawful Arrest 

 
Finally, the immigration officers¶ arrest of Ms. Ramirez Sanan violated 8 C.F.R. § 

287.8(c)(2)(i), which states:  
 

An arrest shall be made only when the designated immigration officer has reason to believe 
that the person to be arrested has committed an offense against the United States or is an 
alien illegally in the United States. 

 
For the reasons outlined above, Ms. Ramirez Sanan was not even a reasonably mistaken 

WDUJHW� RI� WKH� RIILFHUV¶� HQIRUFHPHQW� DFWLRQV� The RIILFHUV¶ warrantless and reckless arrest was 
unlawful.     

 
Altogether, these circumstances constitute serious violations of the standards for 

immigration officer enforcement activities as codified in 8 C.F.R. § 287.8. 
 

CLAIMS 
 

Each tort claim brought under the FTCA must be evaluated under the substantive law of 
the state in which the conduct occurred. See, e.g., Gill v. United States, 516 F. Supp. 3d 64, 79 (D. 
0DVV���������DOORZLQJ�YDULRXV�)7&$�FODLPV�WR�SURFHHG�DQG�KROGLQJ�WKDW�³EHFDXVH�WKH�PDMRULW\�RI�
WKH�DOOHJHGO\�WRUWLRXV�FRQGXFW�RFFXUUHG�LQ�0DVVDFKXVHWWV��LWV�WRUW�ODZ�JRYHUQV´���,Q�WKLV�FDVH��VLQFH�
the underlying misconduct and offenses took place in Chelsea, Massachusetts, the tort claims are 
properly analyzed under Massachusetts law.  
 

I. False Imprisonment 

The immigration officers falsely imprisoned Claimants. To state a claim for false 
LPSULVRQPHQW��D�SODLQWLII�PXVW�DOOHJH�WKDW�WKH�GHIHQGDQW�³LPSRV>HG@�E\�IRUFH�RU�WKUHDWV�DQ�XQODZIXO�
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UHVWUDLQW�XSRQ�IUHHGRP�RI�PRYHPHQW�´�Wax v. McGrath, 151 N.E. 317, 342 (Mass. 1926) (citation 
omitted). This includes any demonstration of physical power that seems like it can be avoided only 
by submission. &REO\Q�Y��.HQQHG\¶V��,QF�, 268 N.E.2d 860, 860±61 (Mass. 1971). If a person is 
unjustifiably restrained of their personal liberty out of this fear, that can amount to false 
imprisonment. Id. at 860±61 (allowing tort action for false imprisonment to proceed); see also 
Alianza Americas v. DeSantis, 727 F. Supp. 3d 9, 64±65 (D. Mass. 2024) (allowing false 
imprisonment claims to proceed). The defendant has the burden of proof of establishing that the 
imprisonment was justified by law. See Shine v. Vega, 709 N.E.2d 58, 62 n.13 (Mass. 1999). 

Here, the ICE officers falsely imprisoned Claimants in multiple ways throughout the 
interaction.  

 
First, the immigration officers surrounded Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V car with unmarked 

vehicles and armed officers, at least one of whom was brandishing his gun. The fear of the threat 
of violence and the actual violence committed by the officers against F.R.P. and J.R.P. restricted 
Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V and J.R.S.¶V ability to leave the car.  

 
Then, the ICE officers pulled J.R.S. and Ms. Ramirez Sanan from her vehicle and forcibly 

and violently restrained Ms. Ramirez Sanan against the fence and the ground²she had no ability 
to move or leave. J.R.S., a child with a disability, was brought up against a fence with an officer 
standing directly in front of him, questioning him, and occasionally grabbing his shoulder to 
prevent him from leaving. He was told he would be arrested if he did not respond to the officer, 
despite having limited verbal communication ability due to his Autism. He had no ability to move 
or leave. 7KH�RIILFHUV� DOVR�EORFNHG� DQG� UHVWUDLQHG�$�5�6�¶V�PRYHPHQW�ZKHQ� VKH� DUULYed at the 
scene. 
 
 Finally, the officers physically blocked J.R.S. and A.R.S. from leaving the fence while 
officers carried their mother away to force her in one of their unmarked vehicles. 
 

By confining and then physically restraining Claimants, the officers restrained their 
personal liberty.  

 
The ICE officers had no justifiable reason to restrain Claimants by force or threat of force. 

They ZHUH�QRW�WKH�RIILFHUV¶�WDUJHWV�DQG Ms. Ramirez Sanan was just trying to keep herself and her 
family members safe. The officers therefore unreasonably used fear, physicality, and actual 
violence to restrict Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V and J.R.S.¶V�freedom and falsely imprison them.  

 
II. Assault 

 
7KH� LPPLJUDWLRQ�RIILFHUV� FRPPLWWHG� DQ� DVVDXOW� RQ� WKH�&ODLPDQWV��8QGHU�0DVVDFKXVHWWV�

ODZ��WKH�HOHPHQWV�RI�DVVDXOW�DUH������WKH�GHIHQGDQW�DFWV�LQWHQGLQJ�WR�FDXVH�D�KDUPIXO�RU�RIIHQVLYH�
FRQWDFW�ZLWK� DQRWKHU�� RU� DQ� LPPLQHQW� DSSUHKHQVLRQ�RI� VXFK� D� FRQWDFW�� DQG� ���� DSSUHKHQVLRQ� LV�
FUHDWHG� DQG� H[SHULHQFHG� E\� WKH� RWKHU� SHUVRQ��&RPPRQZHDOWK� Y��+HQVRQ�� ����0DVV�� ����� ����
�0DVV���������DIILUPLQJ�MXGJPHQW���� 
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:KLOH�VXUURXQGLQJ�WKH�YHKLFOH�WKUHDWHQLQJO\��DQG�ZLWKRXW�DQ\�LGHQWLILFDWLRQ�RU�H[SODQDWLRQ��
WKH�RIILFHUV�VPDVKHG�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ¶V�FDU�ZLQGRZV�RQ�WRS�RI�KHU�DQG�)�5�3��DQG�YLROHQWO\�
DUUHVWHG�KHU�EURWKHUV�LQ�ODZ��LQFOXGLQJ�E\�SRLQWLQJ�D�JXQ�DW�)�5�3��GLUHFWO\�LQ�IURQW�RI�KHU�VKDWWHUHG�
ZLQGRZ��7KH\�DOVR�SK\VLFDOO\�UHVWUDLQHG�RU�EORFNHG�$�5�6��DQG�-�5�6��DV�WKHLU�PRWKHU�ZDV�EHLQJ�
GHWDLQHG� DQG� DWWDFNHG� LQ� IURQW� RI� WKHP�� The RIILFHUV� SODFHG� WKH� &ODLPDQWV� LQ� LPPLQHQW�
DSSUHKHQVLRQ�RI�YLROHQW�FRQWDFW��ILUVW��E\�VXUURXQGLQJ�WKH�FDU�LQ�DQ�LQWLPLGDWLQJ�PDQQHU��VPDVKLQJ�
WKH�FDU�ZLQGRZV��DQG�EUDQGLVKLQJ�D�JXQ��WKHQ��E\�DFWLQJ�YLROHQWO\�DQG�WKUHDWHQLQJO\�WRZDUGV�WKH�
IDPLO\��7KURXJKRXW�WKH�LQWHUDFWLRQ��WKH�Claimants�ZHUH�WHUULILHG�DQG�ZRUULHG�DERXW�WKH�RIILFHUV¶�
FRQWLQXLQJ�DQG�HVFDODWLQJ�WKUHDW�RI�YLROHQFH�� 
 

III. Battery 
 

7KH�LPPLJUDWLRQ�RIILFHUV�FRPPLWWHG�D�EDWWHU\�RQ�WKH�&ODLPDQWV��8QGHU�0DVVDFKXVHWWV�ODZ��
WKH�HOHPHQWV�RI�EDWWHU\�DUH������WKH�GHIHQGDQW�DFWV�LQWHQGLQJ�WR�FDXVH�D�KDUPIXO�RU�RIIHQVLYH�FRQWDFW�
ZLWK�DQRWKHU��DQG�����WKH�KDUPIXO�RU�RIIHQVLYH�FRQWDFW�ZLWK�DQRWKHU�SHUVRQ�GLUHFWO\�RU�LQGLUHFWO\�
UHVXOWV��:DWHUV�Y��%ODFNVKHDU������0DVV�������������������DIILUPLQJ�MXGJPHQW��� 

 
7KH�RIILFHUV�IRUFLEO\�UHPRYHG�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ�DQG�-�5�6��IURP�WKH�FDU�E\�JUDEELQJ�

DQG�SXOOLQJ�WKHLU�DUPV��7KH\�SXVKHG�DQG�GUDJJHG�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ�WR�WKH�IHQFH�DQG�VODPPHG�
KHU�DJDLQVW�LW��IDFH�ILUVW��7KH�RIILFHUV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�EDWWHU�0V��5DPLUH]�6DQDQ�E\�YLROHQWO\�
KDQGFXIILQJ�KHU��NLFNLQJ�KHU��DQG�SXVKLQJ�KHU�IDFH�GRZQ�DJDLQVW�WKH�JURXQG��LQMXULQJ�KHU�KDQG�
IDFH��VKRXOGHU��SHOYLV��DQG�OHJV��7KH\�DOVR�JUDEEHG�$�5�6�¶V�DUPV�WR�SK\VLFDOO\�UHVWUDLQ�DQG�SXVK�
KHU�EDFN��7KURXJKRXW�WKH�LQWHUDFWLRQ��WKH�RIILFHUV�PDGH�WKH�GHOLEHUDWH�FKRLFH�WR�FDXVH�
XQQHFHVVDU\�DQG�HVFDODWLQJ�KDUPIXO�DQG�RIIHQVLYH�FRQWDFW�WR�WKH�&ODLPDQWV�� 

 
IV. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 
7R�HVWDEOLVK�DQ�LQWHQWLRQDO�LQIOLFWLRQ�RI�HPRWLRQDO�GLVWUHVV��³,,('´��FODLP�LQ�

Massachusetts, a plaintiff must demonstrate that: (1) the defendant intended to inflict emotional 
distress, or knew or should have known that emotional distress was the likely result of their 
FRQGXFW������WKH�FRQGXFW�ZDV�H[WUHPH�DQG�RXWUDJHRXV������WKH�GHIHQGDQW¶V�DFWLRQV�ZHUH�WKH�FDXVH�
RI�WKH�SODLQWLII¶V�GLVWUHVV��DQG�����SODLQWLII¶V�HPRWLRQDO�GLVWUHVV�ZDV�VHYHUH�DQG�RI�D�QDWXUH�WKDW�
would be considered unendurable by a reasonable person. Agis v. Howard Johnson Co., 355 
N.E.2d 315, 318±19 (Mass. 1976); see also Alianza Americas, 727 F. Supp. 3d at 65 (applying 
WKLV�VWDQGDUG���:KHQ�FRQVLGHULQJ�D�FODLP�IRU�,,('��WKH�WULHU�RI�IDFW�PD\�³SXW�DV�KDUVK�D�IDFH�RQ�
>WKH�GHIHQGDQW¶V�DFWLRQV@�DV�WKH�EDVLF�IDFWV�ZRXOG�UHDVRQDEO\�DOORZ�´�Id. at 66 (citation omitted). 
 

+HUH��WKH�RIILFHUV¶�PLVFRQGXFW�well exceeds this legal threshold. The officers intentionally 
initiated and escalated the encounter in the most disruptive and traumatic way possible: physically 
blocking Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V car with multiple unmarked vehicles instead of using sirens; 
surrounding the car with masked and armed officers, including at least one brandishing a gun; 
failing to identify or explain themselves; failing to ask for identification of the passengers; 
violently breaking car windows; physically blocking and intimidating the passengers; injuring and 
restraining a mother in front of her crying children²all while recklessly ignoring pleas about the 
IDPLO\�PHPEHUV¶�LOOQHVVHV��GLVDELOLWLHV��DQG�OHJDO�VWDWXV. Any reasonable officer would or should 
know that violently shattering car windows and brutally handcuffing a parent in front of their 
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children, especially without warning or explanation, would cause deep and lasting emotional pain 
and trauma. 

 
The officers¶ reckless disregard for the IDPLO\¶V�KXPDQLW\�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�LQWHUDFWLRQ�ZDV 

³EH\RQG�DOO�ERXQGV�RI�GHFHQF\�DQG�������XWWHUO\�LQWROHUDEOH�LQ�D�FLYLOL]HG�FRPPXQLW\´�DQG�
therefore extreme and outrageous. Agis, 355 N.E.2d at 319.  Id. $QG�WKH�RIILFHUV¶�deliberately 
violent actions resulted in severe and enduring physical and psychological harm to Ms. Ramirez 
Sanan and her children. See Harms, supra.  

 
For example: 

 
x J.R.S., who is thirteen and has a severe Autism disability, cannot sleep, cries constantly, 

and is continuously UHWUDXPDWL]HG�E\�WKH�VFHQH�RI�WKH�LQFLGHQW�DQG�EHLQJ�LQ�KLV�PRP¶V�
car.  

x A.R.S., who is eighteen, continues to experience heightened physical and emotional 
distress, causing her headaches and disrupting her ability to sleep.  

x Mrs. Ramirez Sanan continues to experience severe physical, emotional, and 
psychological distress, compounded by significant financial strain.  

 
No reasonable person should be expected to bear witness to the senseless and violent 

detention of their family members by unidentified masked and armed individuals. 7KH�RIILFHUV¶�
use of brutality, excessive force, and destructive tactics to arrest a lawful permanent resident in 
front of her children predictably resulted in Claimants¶ severe emotional distress.  

 
V. Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 
For a claim of QHJOLJHQWO\� LQIOLFWHG�HPRWLRQDO�GLVWUHVV� �³1,('´���D�SODLQWLII�PXVW�SURYH�

³����QHJOLJHQFH������HPRWLRQDO�GLVWUHVV������FDXVDWLRQ������SK\VLFDO�KDUP�PDQLIHVWHG�E\�REMHFWLYH�
symptomatology; and (5) that a reasonable person would have suffered emotional distress under 
WKH�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�RI�WKH�FDVH�´�Lanier v. President & Fellows of Harvard Coll., 490 Mass. 37, 44 
(2022) (citation omitted) (allowing NIED claims to proceed).  
 

The ICE officers owe a duty to exercise reasonable care in conducting law enforcement 
operations, particularly when vulnerable persons, including minors with disabilities, are present. 
See, e.g., 8 C.F.R. § 287.8 (Standards for Enforcement Activities). The officers breached that duty 
when, without identifying themselves or giving the family an opportunity to cooperate, they 
shattered Ms. Ramirez Sanan¶V� FDU� ZLQGRZV� DQG� DJJUHVVLYHO\� attacked and intimidated Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan and her son. The officers also breached that duty when they violently arrested Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan directly in front of her terrified son and her pleading daughter. The officers acted 
negligently in breaching their duties and their behavior directly caused Claimants to experience 
extreme emotional distress. 

 
&ODLPDQWV¶� significant emotional trauma has resulted in ongoing, objectively verifiable 

symptoms, consistent with those recognized in Massachusetts NIED case law²including 
recurring nightmares, emotional dysregulation, physical pain, and anxiety. See Harms, supra; see 
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also Rodriguez v. Cambridge Hous. Auth., 443 Mass. 697, 703 (Mass. 2005) (allowing damages 
and recognizing NIED claim where child found mother in bedroom after a violent home invasion).  
 

&ODLPDQWV¶� WUDXPD was neither incidental nor unforeseeable²it was the natural and 
SUREDEOH� FRQVHTXHQFH� RI� WKH� RIILFHUV¶� FKRVHQ� FRXUVH� RI� needless and escalating violence. A 
reasonable person, particularly a parent or child, would undoubtedly suffer emotional distress after 
witnessing such unprovoked and violent behavior towards their family members.  
 

VI. Trespass to Chattels 
 
0DVVDFKXVHWWV�ODZ�SURYLGHV�³>U@HFRYHU\�RU�UHOLHI�IRU�WUHVSDVV�RU�LQMXU\�WR�D�FKDWWHO������ZKHUH�

SK\VLFDO� KDUP� LV� VKRZQ�´ Smith v. Wright, 2013 Mass. App. Div. 24 (Mass. App. Div. 2013) 
(citation omitted). More specifically: 
  

One who commits a trespass to chattels is subject to liability to the 
possessor of the chattel if, but only if, (a) he dispossesses the other 
of the chattel, or (b) the chattel is impaired as to its condition, 
quality, or value, or (c) the possessor is deprived of the use of the 
chattel for a substantial time, or (d) bodily harm is caused to the 
possessor, or harm is caused to some person or thing in which the 
possessor has a legally protected interest. 

  
Id. (citation omitted) (allowing claim of trespass to chattels in case involving personal property); 
VHH�DOVR�7H[DV� Y��8�6��'HS¶W� RI�+RPHODQG�6HF�, 123 F.4th 186, 208 (5th Cir. 2024) (allowing 
WUHVSDVV�ODZVXLW�DJDLQVW�LPPLJUDWLRQ�RIILFLDOV�IRU�³FRQWLQXRXVO\�GHVWUR\>LQJ@��������SURSHUW\�ZKHQ�
QRW� QHFHVVDU\«´�� �HQMRLQLQJ� WKH� IHGHUDO� JRYHUQPHQW� IURP�GDPDJLQJ�� GHVWUR\LQJ�� RU� RWKHUZLVH�
interfering with property).   
  

Here, the immigration officers¶�GHFLVLRQ�WR�UHFNOHVVO\�DQG�GDQJHURXVO\ shatter Ms. Ramirez 
Sanan¶V car windows resulted in physical damage and dispossession of the vehicle. The family 
was unable to use their car for almost a month while they saved up money for the $500 repairs.  

 
VII. Conversion 

 
The officers committed conversion when they destroyed the windows RI� WKH� IDPLO\¶V�

YHKLFOH��8QGHU�0DVVDFKXVHWWV�ODZ��³>W@KH elements of conversion may be established by a showing 
that one person exercised dominion over the personal property of another, without right, and 
WKHUHE\�GHSULYHG�WKH�ULJKWIXO�RZQHU�RI�LWV�XVH�DQG�HQMR\PHQW�´�In re Hilson, 448 Mass. 603, 611 
�0DVV�� ������ �FLWDWLRQ� RPLWWHG��� +HUH�� WKH� LPPLJUDWLRQ� RIILFHUV¶� unjustifiably damaged Ms. 
Ramirez Sanan¶V�FDU�DQG�GHSULYHG�KHU�IDPLO\�RI�LWV�XVH and enjoyment for over a month.  

 
VIII. Negligent Supervision  

 
To establish a claim of negligent supervision under Massachusetts law, a plaintiff must 

initially HVWDEOLVK�³WKDW�WKH�SHUVRQV�whose actions form the basis of the claim were agents and/or 
employees of the defendant employer; [and] that the agents and employees came into contact 
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ZLWK�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�SXEOLF�LQ�WKH�FRXUVH�RI�WKHLU�HPSOR\HU¶V�EXVLQHVV�´�Limone v. United States, 
497 F. Supp. 2d 143, 233 (D. Mass. 2007) (citations omitted), DII¶G�RQ�RWKHU�JURXQGV, 579 F.3d 
�����VW�&LU���������$�SODLQWLII�PXVW�DOVR�HVWDEOLVK�³WKDW�WKH�HPSOR\HU�IDLOHG�WR�XVH�UHDVRQDEOH�FDUH�
in the selection, supervision and retention of the agents and employees; and [] that the failure to 
use such reasonable care was the proximate cDXVH�RI�KDUP�WR�WKH�SODLQWLIIV�´�Id. 
 

Here, all ICE officers are federal employees whose assigned duties involve direct and 
frequent contact with members of the public in the course of conducting immigration 
enforcement activities. Their roles and work necessarily place them in situations where misuse of 
authority creates a substantial risk of harm, making proper supervision essential to public safety. 
 

The ICE supervisors failed to use reasonable care in managing their immigration officers. 
TKH�RIILFHUV¶�XQODZIXO�EHKDYLRU�WRZDUGV�WKH�&ODLPDQWV�ZDV�QRW�LVRODWHG��LW�ZDV�SDUW�RI�D�V\VWHPLF�
custom, pattern, and practice that government supervisors knew about or, at a minimum, should 
have known about, yet failed to prevent. ICE has engaged in an established, escalating pattern of 
warrantless arrests, racial profiling, and other unconstitutional enforcement tactics. Practices such 
as smashing vehicle windows, forcibly removing individuals, and violently throwing them to the 
ground have been repeatedly documented, publicly reported, and widely criticized²placing 
supervisory officials on clear notice that ICE officers were routinely engaging in conduct that 
violated constitutional and statutory limits. Indeed, just months prior to this incident, ICE officers 
violently smashed the windows of another Chelsea family¶V�FDU.4  

 
Given this well-HVWDEOLVKHG� SDWWHUQ�� WKH� RIILFHUV¶� XQODZIXO� FRQGXFW� DQG� UHVXOWLQJ� KDUPV�

suffered by the Claimants were entirely foreseeable. The frequency, similarity, and persistence of 
these incidents strongly suggest that such actions are not merely tolerated, but are affirmatively 
sanctioned by ICE leadership. This would reflect a deliberate strategy, with supervisors directing 
or encouraging unconstitutional and unlawful tactics. Even if this behavior was not explicitly 
ordered, the widespread publicity surrounding such incidents means ICE supervisory officials 
knew or should have known and yet failed to take corrective action, implement adequate oversight, 
provide proper training, or otherwise adequately supervise officers to ensure the law is being 
followed. 

 
Under Massachusetts law, such conduct constitutes negligent supervision. Supervisors 

cannot ignore repeated and well-documented constitutional violations by their subordinates 
without becoming also responsible for the resulting harm. As courts have recogni]HG�� ³>W@RWDO�
LQDFWLRQ�FDQQRW�EH�UHDVRQDEOH�FDUH�LQ�WKH�IDFH�RI�FHUWDLQ�PLVFRQGXFW�´�Limone, 497 F. Supp. 2d at 
�����FRQGHPQLQJ�VXSHUYLVRUV�IRU�GRLQJ�³DEVROXWHO\�QRWKLQJ´���In light of the brutality inflicted on 
the Claimants and far too many others, the failure to take reasonable care in supervising ICE 
officers renders supervisory liability both appropriate and necessary²to uphold accountability and 
prevent further abuse. 
 

DAMAGES AND REQUESTED RELIEF 
 

For the reasons outlined above, Claimants respectfully request: 
 

4 Ally Jarmanning, Chelsea family seeking to sue ICE after father is pulled from car on the way to church, WBUR 
(June 5, 2025), available at https://www.wbur.org/news/2025/06/05/chelsea-ice-arrest-complaint. 

https://www.wbur.org/news/2025/06/05/chelsea-ice-arrest-complaint
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1) Damages in the amount of $1,000,000.00; 
2) Attorneys¶ fees and costs as permitted by law; 
3) Such other and further relief as may be just, proper, and equitable.  

 
CONCLUSION 

 
For the reasons outlined above, Claimants respectfully bring this action under the FTCA, 

seeking compensation for the extraordinary harms they suffered at the hands of the federal 
government.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Jillian Lenson, Esq.  
Oren Sellstrom, Esq.  
Iván Espinoza-Madrigal, Esq. 
Lawyers for Civil Rights 
61 Batterymarch Street, 5th Floor  
Boston, MA 02110 
Counsel for Claimants 


